No. 20-40575

IN THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE FIFTH CIRCUIT

SAN ANTONIO BAY ESTUARINE WATERKEEPER; SYLVIA DIANE WILSON,

Plaintiffs - Appellees,

v.

FORMOSA PLASTICS CORPORATION TEXAS; FORMOSA PLASTICS CORPORATION USA,

Defendants - Appellants.

Appeal from the United States District Court for the Southern District of Texas, Victoria Division

RECORD EXCERPTS

Jennifer Richards Jerome Wesevich Texas RioGrande Legal Aid, Inc. 4920 N. I-35 Austin, Texas 78751 (512) 374-2758 jrichards@trla.org jwesevich@trla.org

Counsel for Appellee S. Diane Wilson

Amy Johnson Law Offices of Amy R. Johnson 5836 SE Madison St. Portland, Oregon 97215 503-939-2996 amy@savagejohnson.com

David Frederick
Frederick, Perales, Allmon &
Rockwell, PC
1206 San Antonio St.
Austin, Texas 78701
(512) 469-6000
dof@lf-lawfirm.com

> David T. Bright Sico Hoelscher Harris & Braugh, LLP 802 N. Carancahua, Suite 900 Corpus Christi, Texas 78401 (361) 653-3300 dbright@shhlaw.com

Counsel for Appellees San Antonio Bay Estuarine Waterkeeper and S. Diane Wilson

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. June 27, 2019 Memorandum and Order [ROA.5564-5584]
- 2. May 18, 2020 Motion Requesting Judicial Resolution of a Dispute Arising Under the Consent Decree by Formosa [ROA.5810-5823]
- 3. Excerpted Portions of June 1, 2020 Response to Motion to Enforce Provisions of the Consent Decree filed by Formosa [ROA.5913, 5923, 5925]
- 4. Excerpted Portions of September 21, 2020 Motion to Stay Pending Appeal by Formosa [ROA.6195, 6199]
- 5. Excerpted Portions of September 21, 2020 Response to Opposed Motion to Amend Order (re: Dispute concerning the interpretation of paragraphs 36, 37 and 38 of the Consent Decree) by Formosa [ROA.6180, 6182]

Record Excerpts Page 1

Respectfully submitted,

By: /s/ Amy Johnson
Amy Johnson
Texas State Bar No. 10679550
5836 SE Madison St.
Portland, OR 97215
503-939-2996 Telephone
512-447-3940 Fax
amy@savagejohnson.com

David Frederick
Texas State Bar No. 07412300
Frederick, Perales, Allmon &
Rockwell, PC
1206 San Antonio
Austin, Texas 78701
(512) 469-6000 Telephone
(512) 482-9346 Fax
dof@lf-lawfirm.com

David T. Bright
Texas State Bar No. 02991490
Federal Bar No. 8628
SICO HOELSCHER HARRIS &
BRAUGH, LLP
802 N. Carancahua, Suite 900
Corpus Christi, Texas 78401
(361) 653-3300 Telephone
(361) 653-3333 Fax
dbright@shhlaw.com

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEES S. DIANE WILSON AND SAN ANTONIO BAY ESTUARINE WATERKEEPER

Record Excerpts Page 2

By: <u>/s/ Jennifer Richards</u>

Jennifer Richards
Texas State Bar No. 24107975
Jerome Wesevich
Texas State Bar No. 21193250
TEXAS RIOGRANDE LEGAL AID
4920 N-I35
Austin, TX 78751
512-374-2739 Telephone
512-447-3940 Fax
jrichards@trla.org
jwesevich@trla.org

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE S. DIANE WILSON

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on the 5th day of March 2021, an electronic copy of the foregoing Record Excerpts was filed with the Clerk of the Court for the United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit using the appellate CM/ECF system, and that service will be accomplished by the appellate CM/ECF system and by email to all counsel of record.

/s/Amy R. Johnson Amy R. Johnson

Record Excerpts Page 3

TAB 1

United States District Court Southern District of Texas

ENTERED

June 27, 2019 David J. Bradley, Clerk

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS VICTORIA DIVISION

SAN ANTONIO BAY ESTUARINE	§	
WATERKEEPER, et al,	§	
	§	
Plaintiffs,	§	
VS.	§	CIVIL ACTION NO. 6:17-CV-0047
	§	
FORMOSA PLASTICS CORP, TEXAS, et al,	§	
	§	
Defendants.	§	

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

I. INTRODUCTION

This case is brought pursuant to State of Texas laws and the Water Pollution Control Act ("Act"), 33 U.S.C. § 1251 et. seq. Before the Court are the parties: (a)¹ proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law; (b) the testimonial evidence; (c) the arguments of counsel; and, (d) the documentary evidence presented by both the plaintiff, San Antonio Bay Estaurine Waterkeeper and S. Diane Wilson ("Waterkeeper") and the defendants, Formosa Plastics Corp., Texas and Formosa Plastics Corp, U.S.A. ("Formosa")².

After a several day, non-jury trial, the case was taken under advisement by the Court to consider only the question of liability, if any, on the part of Formosa for alleged violations of State and federal law. After a careful review of the evidence, pleadings, arguments of counsel and the applicable law, the Court determines that: (a) it has jurisdiction over Waterkeeper's suit;

¹ The Court has drawn upon the findings of facts and conclusions of law filed by the plaintiffs and defendants in formulating this Memorandum.

² After a review of the evidence, the Court is of the opinion and concludes that Formosa Texas and Formosa Plastics Corp U.S.A. jointly direct, manage and control Formosa Texas as it relates to matters concerning Formosa Permit and Compliance with state and federal law. *See* [Section X(c)].

and (b) Formosa has historically and continues to violate its Texas Pollutant Discharge Elimination System permit ("TPDES") and consequently the cwa.

II. THE ACT AND AUTHORITY OF STATES

The Clean Water Act ("CWA") makes unlawful the discharge of any pollutant by any person that is not discharged pursuant to a permit [33 U.S.C.A. § 1311(a)]. Therefore, discharges of pollutants are lawful if the discharging person holds a National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System ("NPDES") Permit that meets the requirements of the CWA. [33 U.S.C.A. § 1342]. Specifically, Section 1342 of the Act provides that upon the approval of the Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA"), states may create and administer a State Pollutant Discharge Elimination System ("SPDES") permit program. *Id.* Texas has an SPDES Permit Program administered by the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality ("TCEQ") with which the authority to issue permits for the discharge of pollutants into the State waters. *See* [Tex. Water Code § 26.027]. Therefore, Texas law prohibits the "discharge [of] sewage, municipal waste, recreational waste, agricultural waste, or industrial waste into or adjacent to any water in the state" except as authorized by TCEQ. *Id.* at § 26.121. Formosa is a permittee.

The CWA requires that program administrators establish reporting mechanisms necessary for determining when permittees are in violation of federal effluent standards. [33 U.S.C.A. § 1318(a)]. These reports are publicly available [33 U.S.C.A. § 1318(b)]. Also, Texas law requires as a condition of all permits, that permittees report any non-compliance that endangers human health or safety, or the environment. [30 Tex. Admin. Code §305.125(9)]. Initial reports of non-compliances may be made orally within the first 24 hours; however, a written report is required within five days. *Id.* at §305.125(9)(A).

III. WATERKEEPER'S MISSION AND THE RELIEF SOUGHT

Waterkeeper is a 501(c)(3), non-profit organization that has as its mission the preservation of local wetlands and waterways in Lavaca and Matagorda Bays and Cox Creek. In keeping with this mission, Waterkeeper enlisted volunteers, marine biologists and environmental advocates to monitor the water ways and collect evidence that it contends supports its claim that Formosa has and continues to violate the Act has failed to report its conduct to state or federal agencies pursuit to its Permit.

Waterkeeper seeks a declaratory judgment that Formosa has violated, and on an ongoing basis, continues to violate its TPDES Permit under the Act, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1311, 1342 and 40 C.F.R. § 122.41(a). Waterkeeper also seeks monetary damages, attorney's fees and injunctive relief. Jurisdiction over such disputes is conferred on this Court by 28 U.S.C. § 1311 and 33 U.S.C. § 1365(a) of the Act.

A. Waterkeeper's Notice Timely

Pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 505(b)(1)(A), Waterkeeper notified Formosa of its allegations and gave notice of its intent to file suit. Notice was also provided to the EPA and the TCEQ. The record shows that more than 60 days expired between the notice given and the filing of this suit, which notice satisfied the requirement of the Act. *See* 33 U.S.C.A § 1365(b)(1). At the time that Waterkeeper commenced this suit, neither the EPA nor TCEQ had commenced a civil or criminal action against Formosa to enforce compliance with its TPDES Permit. The Court determines that the citizen's notice requirement(s) are met.

B. Waterkeeper's Challenge to Permit Renewal

In July of 2013, Waterkeeper challenged Formosa's application for a renewal and amendment to its TPDES Permit due to alleged past violations of its Permit and the CWA. After

hearings and some delay, Formosa's Permit was renewed on June 10, 2016, as Permit # WQ0002436000. This Permit is the subject of Waterkeeper's suit and allegations that Formosa continues to violate it Permit, State and federal law.

IV. FORMOSA'S WASTEWATER AND STORMWATER DISCHARGES

Formosa was issued its original water discharge Permit in 1993. On June 10, 2016, Formosa's TPDES Permit was renewed to expire on January 1, 2020. The Permit allows Formosa to treat and discharge wastewater and stormwater and discharge it into Lavaca Bay and into Cox Creek, both waterways are "navigable waters" of the United States.

Formosa has 13 permitted wastewater or stormwater Outfalls from the plant (Outfalls 001-013). Outfall 001 discharges treated wastewater and process (or contact) stormwater. Outfalls 002-013 discharges non-process (or non-contact) stormwater. Two of these Outfalls (numbered 001 and 011) discharge to conveyances that lead to Lavaca Bay. Six Outfalls (numbered 002, 003, 004, 005, 010 and 013) discharge to conveyances that lead to Cox Creek, south of State Highway 35. The remaining five wastewater Outfalls (numbered 006, 007, 008, 009, and 012) discharge to conveyances that lead to Cox Creek north of State Highway 35.

The primary function of the wastewater system that discharges from Outfall 001 into Lavaca Bay is to remove or dissolve organic waste. While it has some functions capable of removing plastic pellets and PVC powder from the wastewater prior to discharge, Formosa is aware that these functions have proven inadequate based on the quantity of plastic pellets and PVC powder that move through the system. Remedial measures taken at the outfall recently have also proved to be inadequate.

A. Permit Restrictions

Formosa's 2016 Permit prohibits the "discharge of floating solids or visible foam in other than trace amounts" from Outfall 001. *See* (Ex 2 at 71403-000224). This prohibition is not new but is the exact same Permit terms found in Formosa's original TPDES Permit issued in 1993. *See* (Ex 88 at FPC048636). The Permit also prohibits the "discharge of floating solids or visible foam in other than "trace amounts" from Outfalls 002, 003, 004, 005, 006, 007, 008, 009, 010, 011, and 012. *See* (Ex 2 at 71403-000235-000236). Moreover, TCEQ rules prohibit the discharge of "floating debris and suspended solids" into surface waters. *See* [30 Texas Admin. Code 307.4(b)(2); *see also* (Ex 2 at 71403-000242)].

The Permit also requires Formosa to report, in writing, within 24 hours, any floating solids violations. In determining whether the Permit has been violated, the TCEQ conducts inspections from time-to-time utilizing a "visual sightings" method to determine compliance. The discharge of any floating solids constitutes a violation of the Permit. *See* 30 Tex. Admin. Code § 307.4(b)(2-4). Formosa has not disputed the visual sightings method for determining compliance or interpretation of its Permit by which compliance is determined.

B. What Constitutes A "Trace Amounts"

The term trace "means "a very small amount; a barely discernible quantity of a constituent, especially when not quantitatively determined, because of minuteness. *See* [Webster's New International Dictionary, 2nd Ed. (unabridged)(1957). This definition is consistent with the definition found in Black's Law Dictionary, science and scientific understanding and use in laboratories. The Court's understanding is confirmed by the testimony of Dr. Jeremy Conkle, an expert in the field. He testified that "trace organic contaminants are not easily identifiable in the environment." He testified further that it is "very difficult to detect"

these contaminants and often takes advanced instrumentation to concentrate them for analysis. (Trial Tr. Vol. 2, 36:10-16).

V. TCEQ'S COMPLIANCE ROLE AND COMPLAINT INVESTIGATED

In determining whether floating solids have been discharged in "other than trace amounts," TCEQ inspectors conduct visual inspections of the water bodies that receive Formosa's discharges. If upon visual inspection, floating solids are readily apparent, the inspectors document their finding, any may photograph any evidence of floating solids as a record of a violation. TCEQ has recently done just that – visually determined and photographed amount of plastic pellets discharged that it holds constitute more than trace amounts.

On March 10 and 14, 2016; September 7, 8 and 13, 2016; April 2018; June 2018; and January 2019, TCEQ determined that Formosa had violated its Permit. The March 2016 and April 2018 photographs show plastics in Cox Creek show plastics in Lavaca Bay. (Ex 74 at FPC002716-002718 and Ex 75 at 71403-008239). Likewise, in January 2019, photos show plastics in Cox Creek and Lavaca Bay. (Ex 145).

Formosa's Permit requires it to report prohibited discharges within 24 hours to TCEQ, *i.e.*, any floating solids violations. The Permit also requires Formosa to report any permit non-compliance, that may endanger human health, safety, or the environment as required by the State Administrative Code. The TCEQ confirms that reportable discharges, that endanger the human health, safety, or the environment, include the discharge of plastic pellets and PVC powder.

Formosa agreed, during the 2016 permitting process, that it was required to report any unlawful discharge of plastic pellets and PVC powder to TCEQ. It also affirmed that it understood the meaning of the effluent limitations contained in its Permit and further confirmed

that its understanding was the same as that defined by TCEQ. *See* [Ex 11 at 71403-001828 - 001829); and Ex 5 at 71403-000165].

On April 11, June 12 and June 26, 2018, TCEQ conducted on-site investigations of the Formosa plant that included examination of Outfall 001. (Ex 12) The April 11, 2018, TCEQ investigation was based on citizen complaints of Formosa's plastic pellet discharges at Lavaca Bay and Cox's Creek from one or more of the stormwater Outfalls and observed floating white debris [PVC powder] and plastic pellets in the Bay near Outfall 001.

TCEQ also observed floating white debris that appeared similar to the debris seen near Outfall 001 in the plant at the sump that precedes the in-plant inlet to the pipe leading to Outfall 001. Formosa employees acknowledge to the investigators at the time that Formosa had observed plastic pellets at the Outfall 001 during weekly cleaning of its cone filter in the outflow path.

Citizens also filed complaints that plastic pellets were being discharged from Outfall 001 and were observed on June 21 and again on June 26, 2018. At the time, TCEQ investigated those complaints and again found floating pellets and white debris near the discharge from Outfall 001. It collected water samples from the sump and from the sampling spigot down-flow from the sump. It also collected water samples near the outflow of Outfall 001 and from the north shoreline of Lavaca Bay. Laboratory analyses of the white debris [PVC powder] in each sample were consistent with one another, "indicating that it is likely the same material" found on Formosa's facility.

TCEQ received further complaints on October 8, 2018, of PVC powder and plastic pellets in Lavaca Bay. The agency investigator on October 9, 2018, documented PVC powder and plastic pellets at several places along the shoreline of Lavaca Bay and informed Formosa of

its findings. Another TCEQ on-site investigation occurred on January 17, 2019. The investigation results documented numerous instances of discharged plastic pellets or floating solids at Outfalls 001, 006, 008 and 009.

VI. WATERKEEPER AND WILSON'S COLLECTIONS

Plaintiffs offered testimony of plaintiff Diane Wilson and members David Sumpter, Bobby Lindsey, Ronnie Hamrick, Dale Jurasek, and Cheyenee Jurasek. These witnesses provided detailed, credible testimony regarding plastics discharged by Formosa, as well as photographs, videos, and 30 containers containing 2,428 samples of plastics in gallon zip lock bags and plastic bottles of plastic pellets.

Dale Jurasek testified about conditions at Formosa and also supplied notes recording that he informed Formosa in 2000 that plastics being discharged into Lavaca Bay and Cox Creek. Waterkeeper also offered testimony of interested citizens Michael Mang, Myron Spree and Van Rozner. Mr. Mang and Mr. Spree testified that plastics were being discharged by Formosa. As well, the produced photographs and videos documenting the discharges. Rozner, a former Formosa employee, testified and his testimony confirmed problems at Formosa's facility that were leading to the discharges. The reports and the testimony of three independent experts, Dr. Aiza Jose-Sanchez (Exs. 35, 36, 37, 38 and 238), Dr. Jeremy Conkle (Exs. 33, 34 and 39) and Ms. Donna Phillips (Exs. 39 and 189) were offered by Waterkeeper. Although Formosa made *Daubert* objections to the testimony of Dr. Jose-Sanchez and Dr. Jeremy Conkle, those objections are overruled. The Court accepts their testimony as reasonable and credible. Drs. Conkle and Jose-Sanchez used reliable principles and methods to analyze factually relevant scientific and technical information.

The expert opinion of Dr. Conkle provided compelling and reliable first-hand practical and scientific information about the discharges. He is a Texas A&M scientist and provided thoroughly researched information about the Cox Creek and Lavaca Bay systems, describing why plastic pellets found on the Lavaca Bay shores came from Outfall 001. Dr. Conkle described how Hurricane Harvey flushed Cox Creek. He physically viewed discharges at the Bays, took scientific samples of the discharges, observed Waterkeeper's sampling, and tested plastic pellets in his laboratory. The Court finds that the methodology Dr. Conkle used in this case is reliable and similar to what he uses in his professional capacity [Ex. 33].

Dr. Jose-Sanchez, an environmental engineer with a Ph.D., in civil engineering from the University of Texas, has 24 years of experience consulting for the public and private sector in stormwater and wastewater engineering. She conducted a site visit to Formosa's facility and reviewed extensive information to form her opinions, including but not limited to: the facility's stormwater and wastewater systems, audits and forms completed by Formosa, internal emails and plans for improvements by Formosa, bids from third parties to Formosa for improvements, cleanup amounts and dates from Formosa's third party contractor from Cox Creek and Lavaca Bay, TCEQ investigation reports, and evidence from Waterkeeper and other local resident witnesses about discharges of plastics and powder. *Id.*at 180:25-182:3. The Court finds that the methodology she used in this case is reliable and similar to what she uses in her professional capacity.

Donna Phillips has 28 years of investigation and management experience regulating industrial discharges at TCEQ. (Ex. 39) This experience informed her opinions about the definition and enforcement of applicable permit terms. She traversed Cox Creek and confirmed visually illegal discharges by Formosa. Her testimony was relevant and based on regulatory and

technical information used for analyzing evidence presented in similar cases. The Court accepted her testimony as relevant and reliable.

In rebuttal, Formosa offered the testimony of three plant employees and two independent experts. None of whom testified as stormwater or wastewater engineer concerning the condition of Formosa's current discharge system. None rebutted the evidence that Formosa was and had discharged substantial quantities of plastic pellets and PVC powder into Cox Creek and into Lavaca Bay in violation of its Permit.

Finally, Waterkeeper has collected 1,626 samples on 582 distinct days on Lavaca Bay between January 31, 2016 and March 12, 2019. *See* [Ex 63, Ex 254, *see also* Ex 468; 133], and, at least 110 videos and 44 photos taken by Waterkeepers from Lavaca Bay from January 2016 through February 2019. *See* [Exs. 263-295].

VII. FORMOSA'S RESPONSE

On June 10, 2016, Formosa's plant manager, Rick Crabtree, officially responded to the March 2016 investigative finding of illegal discharges of plastic pellets. Formosa characterized the violation as: "a fail[ure] to prevent the unauthorized discharge of floating solids of floating solids or visible foam in other than trace amounts." Formosa did not dispute that the discharge had occurred nor did it question what was meant by the permit term "trace amounts". Instead, Formosa offered a theory concerning how it could discharge plastic pellets from various Outfalls and be within the "trace amount" restriction.

After agreeing to the "trace amount permit limitation, Formosa since has attempted to quantify "trace amounts" based on its permitted mercury discharge limit using its permitted daily average limit of mercury, 0.03 pounds per day, as a basis. (Ex. 137). It then converts 0.03 lbs/per day and concludes that equals 0.0003 pounds of discharge per minute. This formula permits

Formosa to convert a daily rate to a per minute rate. Under Formosa's theory each day Formosa could discharge 9,626 plastic pellets from the Outfall 006; 7,512 plastic pellets from Outfall 008; and 10,922 plastic pellets from Outfall 009 (Ex. 137). However, no expert evidence supports using these numbers as constituting a "trace amount" for purposes of compliance. Moreover, Formosa admitted that TCEQ does not agree with Formosa's method.

A. TCEQ Notice of Enforcement

After TCEQ gave a notice of violation, it directed Formosa to comply with the Permit by June 13, 2016. That compliance date was not met and the documentation submitted to TCEQ was determined to be "inadequate to resolve the outstanding violation." TCEQ investigated Formosa's facility and sites along Cox Creek and Lavaca Bay again on September 7, 8 and 13, 2016, and found that plastic pellets [were] still being discharged through the stormwater outfalls 006, 008, and 009 and [that the] clean up activities at Cox Creek have not been completed. Additional documentation concerning corrective actions was requested by TCEQ.

On May 1, 2017, TCEQ issued a notice of enforcement to Formosa, informing Formosa that the compliance documentation submitted to TCEQ "did not appear to resolve the outstanding violations because "the clean-up of Cox Creek as well as planned facility upgrades were not completed within the compliance time frame." (Ex 4 at 71403-000017, 000022)

B. Formosa's Contentions

Formosa contends that its Permit does not define the term "trace amounts", therefore, what constitutes trace amounts is ambiguous. However, this position is inconsistent with a previous position taken by Formosa during administrative and/or court proceedings. Hence, Formosa has judicially admitted that the terms "trace amount[s]" does not render its Permit unenforceable.

Formosa also asserts that the permitted stormwater Outfalls are designed and operate to prevent the discharge of plastic pellets and other floating solids in quantities greater than trace amounts. It is undisputed that plastic pellets and other floating solids as well as PVC powder pass through or escape Formosa's "prevent" system and are discharged into the waterways. In light of this revelation, Formosa argues that because the Permit does not establish an absolute measurement of weight or a relative measurement of concentration levels, Formosa is in compliance when it complies with the prevent requirements of its own system.

Formosa's reliance on its designed and operated procedures to prevent discharge of plastic pellets and others floating solids was unacceptable to TCEQ. Therefore, to argue that it is in compliance because it has received annual reports from its independent environmental consultant(s) is to ignore the strictures of the Permit, TCEQ findings, the CWA, and the long-term impacts on the waterways observed and documented by Waterkeeper and private citizens. A review of Formosa's facility operations is appropriate to understand Formosa's challenge.

C. Wastewater Treatment Plant

Formosa's wastewater treatment plant is a Combined Wastewater Treatment Plant. It treats industrial process wastewater and contact stormwater from the physical areas of the plant called "inside battery limits." According to Formosa, wastewater and "contact" stormwater are subject to a three part treatment process, *i.e.*, receiving, pre-treatment, and biological. Stormwater at the facility includes precipitation that falls on pervious and impervious areas and is not absorbed into the subsurface. The excess stormwater on the surface flows through a series of internal concrete and earthen drainage structures ditches. Some are equipped with internal gates, but all eventually discharge through 12 stormwater Outfalls, numbered 002-0013.

Water from the surface of the facility that does not come into contact with any chemical process is called "non-contact stormwater." Non-contact stormwater is captured within 12 drainage areas, with each area draining to an external Outfall.

Formosa's Permit does not specify any controls or treatment for stormwater. Nevertheless, non-contract stormwater falls near manufacturing areas flows through a collection system where Formosa is required to conduct a visual inspection and cleanout any plastic pellets or PVC powder observed prior to releasing the water into the stormwater Outfalls. Non-contact stormwater away from manufacturing areas is not routed through internal gates but, instead, flows straight through to one of the 12 external Outfalls.

Contact stormwater is first pre-treated to remove oil, grease and floating solids, and adjust the pH. It is then sent to the Stormwater Holding Tank for equalization. Following equalization, both contact stormwater and process wastewater go through a solids, oil, grease, emulsion, and foam removal process. The waters then go through a biological treatment that clarifies and separates the wastewater from any solids. However, plastic pellets and PVC powder are not reduced or treated at the biological treatment stage.

The wastewater is then sent to a clarifier for further biological treatment. The presence of plastic pellets and PVC powder cannot be remediated by the biological process at this stage, but may potentially be removed through flocculation. Afterward, treated storm and wastewater are discharged directly into Lavaca Bay through a pipe that extends westward from the plant at Outfall 001.

Failing to control or treat effectively the plastic pellets and PVC powder at the source, (producing/management areas) and permitting stormwater to be discharged through the same Outfalls means that the stormwater generated at the facility will be impacted with plastic pellets

and PVC powder thereby entering Formosa's conveyance system and emptying into the Bays and Creek.

VIII. FORMOSA'S SOURCE CONTROLS INADEQUATE

In spite of Formosa's source controls, plastic pellets and PVC powder regularly and routinely leave the production areas, and get into the stormwater and wastewater system. Formosa's audits of its facility in 2016 and 2017 document these releases. The source controls implemented by Formosa to date, therefore, fail to sufficiently or effectively prevent the release of plastic pellets and powders to the stormwater system.

Formosa has adopted various techniques and installed devices to remedy its failings. Remediation includes floating booms, gabions, mesh screens, wedge screens, manual removals and external gates all of which have proved inadequate and fail to prevent the discharge of floating solids.

Reliance on manual removal of plastics has also prove to be ineffective and impractical to control the discharge plastic pellets and PVC powder. As described in Formosa, removal relies on visual observation and requires the manual operation of the internal gate system and the gates at the Outfalls.

Formosa's reliance on nets and vacuum trucks, as a removal method, have also proved ineffective, and impractical. Removal of plastic pellets and PVC powder from channels and ditches by fish netting is equally impractical. PVC Powder particles are too small to be captured by the fish netting and often attach to the banks of the channels where it is subject to migration during future runoff.

Formosa's documents demonstrate that its reliance on contractors to clean up plastic pellets and powder is inefficient and ineffective. In its February 2019 "new" pellet recovery

project, Formosa states "[E]ven though PP1 continue efforts of plastic pellet source reduction and plastic pellet recovery, plastic pellets continue to collect in the ditches. In sum, Formosa has installed screens all around the production units to prevent plastic pellets from entering the ditches, has hired two full time professionals to help manually clean up plastic pellets, and has used vacuum trucks to vacuum Formosa's internal and designated permitted Outfalls on a routine basis, yet Formosa continues to violate its Permit.

IX. WATERKEEPER'S EXPERT WITNESS DOCUMENTATION

Waterkeeper's samples, photographs, and videos of plastics in both Cox Creek and Lavaca Bay document plastics of more than trace amounts, in similar or more quantities than TCEQ's documentation included in investigation reports. They establish that Formosa's discharges at its outfalls have consistently exceeded trace amounts starting, December 12, 2017, including the most recent visit on February 12, 2019. Waterkeeper's documentation is confirmed by the quantities of plastic pellets and PVC powder collected by Horizon Environmental Services, the cleanup crew hired by Formosa that establishes that more than trace amounts of plastics are being discharged.

Expert opinions offered by Waterkeeper are persuasive and establish that Formosa's design and operation of its stormwater management system allows the discharge of stormwater contaminated with plastic pellets and PVC powder above trace amounts to be released and that these releases are extensive, historical and repetitive. Dr. Jose-Sanchez concluded that powders discharges are likely to continue despite Formosa's controls even though Formosa's proposed controls will likely decrease discharges but not below trace amounts.

Dr. Jose-Sanchez also concludes that Formosa's treated wastewater system is still overwhelmed and that plastic pellets and/or plastic materials are being discharged above trace

amounts through Outfall 001. The Court's conclusions that Dr. Jose-Sanchez's opinions are based on reliable evidence and credible, and, therefore, adopts them.

X. FORMOSA'S RESPONSE TO DR. JOSE-SAHCHEZ

Formosa challenged Dr. Jose-Sanchez's evidence with evidence of its own. Peter Moleux, Formosa's engineering expert testified. However, he is not qualified to give opinions about Formosa's stormwater system. Therefore, his opinion that Formosa is using "being management practices" for stormwater treatment is no opinion. Nevertheless, he testified that Formosa is in compliance with its Permit requirement as it relates to the discharge of floating solids. He based his opinion on the operations and the changes made to [Formosa's] operations. His conclusion is illogical. Formosa cannot be in compliance simply by saying so. The Court rejects Moleux's opinion concerning compliance.

Formosa's corporate representative Matt Brogger testified that Formosa's definition of trace amounts uses mercury concentration levels in Formosa's TPDES permit to extrapolate to the definition of trace. Under his theory, each day Formosa could discharge 9,626 plastic pellets from Outfall 006; 7,512 plastic pellets from Outfall 008; 10,922 plastic pellets from Outfall 009. Based on Brogger's calculations, Formosa's, position that no more than trace amounts of plastic pellets have been discharged from its stormwater Outfalls. He relies in part on the status sheets kept by Formosa employees at the Outfalls where they report that more than trace amounts of plastic pellets were observed at the Outfall gates.

The Court rejects Brogger's calculation method for determining "trace amounts" and also rejects the notion that Formosa's best efforts to contain the plastic pellets and powder means that any discharges of plastic pellets, powder or solids beyond Formosa's best efforts and discharge, constitute trace amounts. Both Moleux and Bragger's positions have been rejected by Formosa's

retained engineer and the head of its water department and the Court, likewise, rejects their conclusions.

XI. CONCLUSIONS

A. Formosa's Challenges of Mootness Fails

The evidence demonstrates that Formosa has been in violation of its Permit concerning the discharge of floating solids at its various Outfall since January 31, 2016 and that the violations are enormous. In addition to documents, Waterkeeper has produced a chart compiling its evidence by date [Exhibit 472], which evidence is undisputed. The Court concludes that the evidence shows violations for each of the 736 days of discharges into Lavaca Bay from Outfall 001. *See* [Ex. 63, 254, 263-295 and 472].

In addition, the Court concludes that Formosa is a serial offender, violating its Permit concerning discharge of floating solids, in other than trace amounts, from other Outfalls from January 31, 2016, to at least March 24, 2019. Some 1,149 days of violations are recorded through Outfalls 003, 004, 005, 006, 007, 008, 009, 012.

Formosa has also failed to report violations of the CWA to State and/or federal authorities at least since January 2016. The failure to report a noncompliant discharge is a separate violation. During the permitting process, Formosa acknowledged that it had a duty to report events where plastic pellets and PVC dust becomes entrenched in storm water runoff and is discharged into Lavaca Bay via one of the Outfalls. Further, Formosa admitted that failing to do so is a Permit violation. The evidence shows that Formosa has never reported a single discharge of floating solids to TCEQ.

On January 17, 2019, Formosa and TCEQ signed an Agreed Order adjudicating certain violations of Formosa's Permit. The Order concludes that Formosa "failed to prevent the

Order also stated that plastic pellets were discharged from outfall 006, 008 and 009 and "were observed floating in Cox Creek and embedded in the Cox Creek sediment." As a result, the TCEQ assessed a penalty of \$121,875 against Formosa.

Formosa takes the position that the Agreed Order resolved Waterkeeper's case rendering it moot. Not so. The violations adjudicated in the Agreed Order, represented six violation events between April 4, 2017 to May 17, 2017. These violations are comprised of two events at each of three outfalls – 006, 008, and 009. Based on the overwhelming evidence, the TCEQ's findings and assessment merely shows the difficulty or inability of the TCEQ to bring Formosa into compliance with its Permit restrictions.

B. Formosa Challenges Waterkeeper's Injury Claim

Formosa challenges Waterkeeper and S. Diane Wilson's standing to bring this suit. An individual has standing to sue when they have (1) "suffered an injury in fact" that is concrete and particularized, and actual or imminent; (2) the injury is fairly traceable to the defendant; and it is likely the injury can be redressed by a favorable decision. *Friends of the Earth, Inc. v. Laidlaw Envil. Servs. (TOC), Inc.*, 528 U.S. 167, 180–81 (2000), (citing *Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife*, 504 U.S. 555, 560–561 (1992)). In such a case, a plaintiff's injuries are "fairly traceable" to a defendant's discharge where the "defendant has (1) discharged some pollutant in concentrations greater than allowed by its permit (2) into a waterway in which the plaintiffs have an interest that is or may be adversely affected by the pollutant and that (3) the pollutant causes or contributes to the kinds of injuries alleged by plaintiffs". *Sierra Club, Lone Star Chapter v. Cedar Point Oil*, 73 F.3d 546, 557 (5th Cir. 1996) (*quoting Public Interest Research Group of New Jersey v. Powell Duffryn Terminals, Inc.*, 913 F.2d 64, 72 (3rd Cir. 1990)).

Plaintiffs are not required to "show to a scientific certainty that defendant's effluent, and defendant's effluent alone, caused the precise harm suffered by the plaintiffs". *Cedar Point Oil*, 73 F.3d at 558 (citations omitted). Plaintiffs must only show that a defendant's discharge "contributes to the pollution that impairs" the plaintiff's use of the water body. *Id. See also Texans United for a Safe Economy Education Fund v. Crown Central Petroleum Corp.*, 207 F.3d 789, 793 (5th Cir. 2000).

The undisputed evidence shows that plastic pellets and PVC powder discharged by Formosa caused or contributed to the damages suffered by the recreational, aesthetic, and economic value of Lava Bay and Cox's Creek. Evidence also establishes that the recreational and aesthetic value of Lavaca Bay, Cox Creek, and their shores have been diminished for members of Waterkeeper, their families and the public in general for use as recreation and aesthetic pleasure. Hence, the presence of PVC powder and plastic pellets distressed the area and lessoned the enjoyment of the local environment.

Wilson, in particular, testified that the recreational and aesthetic value of Lavaca Bay, Cox Creek, and their shores has diminished. She, as well as other individuals, have established that they have also suffered an, injury in fact, because their livelihoods have been damaged due to impacts of discharges on local aquatic life. *San Francisco Herring Association v. Pacific Gas and Electric Co.*, 81 F.Supp.3d 847, 858 (N.D. Ca. 2015). Specifically, the evidence establishes that the shrimp population in the Bay System has been negatively impacted, which condition has negatively impacted Wilson's livelihood.

Waterkeeper and Wilson, among others, have also suffered injury, in fact, because they were unable to obtain information that Formosa was obligated to publicly disclose in a timely fashion in their efforts to combat their injuries. *Center for Biological Diversity, Inc. v. BP*

America Production Co., 704 F.3d 413, 429 (5th Cir. 2015)(citing FEC v. Atkins, 524 U.S. 11, 21 (1998); Sierra Club, Inc. v. Tyson Foods, Inc., 299 F.Supp.2d 693, 703-706 (W.D. Ky. 2003)). Both federal and state statutes require reports of permit violations by the permittee to be publicly available. See [33 USC. §1318(b); Tex. Water Code §26.0151]. In this regard, Formosa totally failed and refused to comply with a known duty.

C. Formosa USA and Formosa Texas Are Persons

"A corporation is responsible for the wrongs committed by its agents in the course of its business". *United Mine Workers of America v. Coronado Coal Co.*, 259 U.S. 344, 395 (1922). A parent corporations that direct, manage, or control facilities that cause NPDES or SPDES permit non-compliance are not absolved of liability simply because it is the subsidiary that owns the permitted facility. See U.S. v. Bestfoods, 524 U.S. 51, 66 (1998)(discussing parent corporation liability under CERCLA). On the contrary, a "person violates" an effluent limitation or condition in an NPDES or SPDES permit when it "directs the workings of, manages, or conducts the affairs of a facility" regarding pollution and the discharge or disposal of waste in such a way as to cause permit non-compliance. See Bestfoods, 524 U.S. at 66 (1998)(defining the term "operator" for CERCLA liability).

The evidence shows that Formosa Plastics Corporation, Texas managed, directed, conducted, and took such actions, or failed to take actions that caused non-compliance with Formosa's TPDES Permit. Formosa Plastics Corporation, Texas is, therefore, a "person who violate[d]" the effluent limitations and conditions of Formosa's TPDES Permit, within the meaning of the law. Therefore, Formosa Plastics Corporation USA and Formosa Texas have violated Formosa's TPDES Permit.

³ See Footnote No. 2.

Having presented discussion and analysis as to Formosa's discharge conduct, the Court determines that: a declaratory judgment shall issue, pursuant to Waterkeeper claim for relief in the form of monetary and injunction relief against Formosa focusing primarily on future violations of its TPDES Permit and the CWA. An attorney's fee should be awarded; and appropriate sanctions for past violations and to enforce future compliance are appropriate.

It is so Ordered.

SIGNED on this 27th day of June, 2019.

Kenneth M. Hoyt

United States District Judge

TAB 2

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS VICTORIA DIVISION

§	
§	
§	
§	
§	
§	Civil Action No. 6:17-cv-00047
§	
§	
§	
§	
§	
	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$

DEFENDANTS' MOTION REQUESTING JUDICIAL RESOLUTION OF A DISPUTE ARISING UNDER THE CONSENT DECREE

By: /s/ John A. Riley
John A. Riley
Texas State Bar No. 16927900
HOLLAND & KNIGHT LLP
111 Congress Ave., Ste. 540
Austin, Texas 78701
(512) 954-6525 Telephone
(512) 472-7473 Fax
Email: john.riley@hklaw.com

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANTS, FORMOSA PLASTICS CORP., TEXAS and FORMOSA PLASTICS CORP., U.S.A.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	INTRODUCTION	1
II.	NATURE OF THE DISPUTE	2
III.	JURISDICTION AND AUTHORITY	2
IV.	LEGAL STANDARD	3
V.	ARGUMENT	3
VI	CONCLUSION	10

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Federal Cases

Dean v. City of Shreveport, 438 F.3d 448, 460 (5th Cir. 2006)	3
Frew v. Janek, 780 F.3d 320 (5th Cir. 2015)	3, 6, 7
United States v. Armour & Co., 402 U. S. 673, 681-682 (1971)	10

DEFENDANTS' MOTION REQUESTING JUDICIAL RESOLUTION OF A DISPUTE ARISING UNDER THE CONSENT
DECREE
PAGE ii

TO THE HONORABLE KENNETH M. HOYT, UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE:

Defendants Formosa Plastics Corp., Texas and Formosa Plastics Corp., U.S.A. hereby file

this motion requesting judicial resolution of a dispute arising under the Consent Decree.

I. INTRODUCTION

Since the January 15, 2020 effective date, San Antonio Bay Estuarine Waterkeeper and S.

Diane Wilson (collectively, "Plaintiffs") and Formosa Plastics Corp., Texas and Formosa Plastics

Corp., U.S.A. (collectively, "Defendants" or "Formosa") have worked cooperatively and

productively implementing the Consent Decree("CD" or "Decree") entered by this Court on

December 6, 2019. Dkt. No. 197. Despite novel and significant challenges presented by the

COVID-19 pandemic, since the effective date, Plaintiffs and Defendants have agreed to the

selection of the Engineering Consultant contemplated in CD paragraphs 12 through 15 [Dkt. No.

197 at pp. 5-6]; the selection of and contract with the Remediation Consultant contemplated in CD

paragraphs 39 and 40 [Dkt. No. 197 at p. 14]; the selection of the Trustee and the terms of the

Trust Agreement contemplated in CD paragraphs 52 and 53 [Dkt. No. 197 at pp. 17-18]; as well

as making substantial progress in the design of the wastewater sampling mechanism on the Outfall

001 discharge line contemplated in CD paragraph 29 [Dkt. No. 197 at p. 10-11].

Despite nearly daily contact and good faith negotiations, however, an agreement as to the

selection of the Monitor, the scope of work for the Monitor, including a reporting policy for

discharges to the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality ("TCEQ") contemplated in CD

paragraphs 28 through 38 [Dkt. No. 197 at p. 10-14] has eluded the Parties. Consequently, the

Parties respectfully seek this Court's resolution of the dispute described herein.

II. NATURE OF THE DISPUTE

Per CD Paragraph 28 [Dkt. No. 197 at p. 10], the Parties are required to select a Monitor, who is defined in the CD as "a qualified, external (non-Formosa) person or firm that is mutually agreed upon and chosen through the process set forth in [the CD]." CD ¶ 11.j., Dkt. No. 197 at p. 5. By definition, therefore, the qualifications of the person or firm contracted to perform the Monitor's functions described in the CD are imbedded in the choice of a Monitor. It was in the context of discussing the Parties' respective nominees for the Monitor and their qualifications for the role that the dispute presented by this Motion was identified. Specifically, the Plaintiffs and Defendants disagree as to whether the Monitor must determine that a new discharge of Plastics through an outfall has occurred before any report to the TCEQ and additional payment by Formosa to the Matagorda Bay Mitigation Trust ("Trust") are due.

III. JURISDICTION AND AUTHORITY

Paragraph 72 of the CD expressly provides "[t]he Court shall retain jurisdiction ... to resolve disputes arising hereunder as may be necessary or appropriate for the construction, modification, implementation, or execution of this Consent Decree." Dkt. No. 197 at p. 25. Given the Parties failure to agree to the choice of the Monitor and the meaning of the phrase "discharging into Cox Creek" in the context of the scope of work for the Monitor and for the purpose of reporting to the TCEQ, Formosa is requesting this Court consider the Decree and direct the Parties as to the proper construction of the Decree with regard to what constitutes a discharge of Plastics subject to the reporting obligation to the TCEQ and additional payment into the Matagorda Bay Mitigation Trust.

IV. LEGAL STANDARD

A court's interpretation of a consent decree is governed by "general principles of contract interpretation." *Dean v. City of Shreveport*, 438 F.3d 448, 460 (5th Cir. 2006). In *Frew v. Janek*, 780 F.3d 320 (5th Cir. 2015), the Court of Appeals for the 5th Circuit elaborated on principles of contract interpretation applicable to interpreting a Consent Decree. "The primary concern of a court in construing a written contract is to ascertain the true intentions of the parties *as expressed in the instrument*. Thus, courts examine the unambiguous language in a contract and enforce the objective intent evidenced by the language used. This reliance on the written terms must include consideration of all the terms: Courts should examine and consider the entire writing in an effort to harmonize and give effect to all the provisions of the contract so that none will be rendered meaningless. Indeed, courts must be particularly wary of isolating from its surroundings or considering apart from other provisions a single phrase, sentence, or section of a contract." *Id.* at 328. (emphasis in original) (citations and internal quotation marks omitted).

V. ARGUMENT

The overarching "objective intent" of the Decree is to stop further and remediate prior discharges of Plastics into the environment. Plastics are defined in the CD as "visible plastic pellets, flakes or powder produced at the Formosa Point Comfort Plant." CD ¶ 11.k., Dkt. No. 197 at p. 5. Serving the objective of preventing the discharge of Plastics after the effective date of the CD, the Decree commits Formosa to "zero (0) discharge of Plastics from Formosa's Point Comfort Plant." immediately upon the effective date of the Decree. CD ¶¶ 49.b. and 49.d., Dkt. No. 197 at p. 16.

The significance of the zero discharge provision in the context of the dispute with the Plaintiffs as to what constitutes a discharge subject to TCEQ reporting and additional payment into

the Trust is twofold. First, even though the CD calls for an Engineering Consultant to "produce plans to retrofit the facility ... and design to prevent the discharge of Plastics" for rainfall events of a 5-year 24-hour magnitude and there is an interactive process among the Plaintiffs, the Plaintiffs' expert(s) and Formosa detailed in the CD to develop and implement the engineering plans such that "direction of all stormwater outside battery limits for Outfalls 002, 003, 004, 005, 006, 007, 008, 009, 012 and 014" ("Enumerated Outfalls") is "to a holding pond system that is designed to have zero (0) discharge of stormwater into Cox Creek for at least a 5-year 24-hour rainfall event" (CD ¶ 19., Dkt. No. 197 at pp. 7-8.), the first substantive step in that interactive process, the Engineering Consultant's proposed plan, is not due until July 9, 2020 and the process for finalizing and implementing the plan is months away. CD \(\) 20., Dkt. No. 197 at p. 8. Second, the zero discharge provision makes it clear Formosa's obligation to stop the discharge of Plastics from the Point Comfort facility is not tied to implementation of the engineering improvements designed to achieve the engineering objective. In short, the CD required Formosa to stop the discharge of Plastics on January 15, 2020, including discharges through the Enumerated Outfalls, and not wait for the engineering objective to be achieved.

Furthermore, it is beyond reasonable disagreement that the Decree resolves all Clean Water Act violations for prior discharges of Plastics through the Enumerated Outfalls through the date this Court entered the Decree, December 6, 2019. CD Paragraph 70 states: "[t]his Consent Decree is entered in full and final settlement of the civil claims for violations of the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. 1365, et seq., as alleged in the complaint filed by Plaintiffs up through the date of entry of this Consent Decree, but shall not affect rights or obligations not specifically addressed herein, as to which the Parties specifically reserve their rights." CD ¶ 70., Dkt. No. 197 at p. 25. The significance of the quoted provision in the context of the dispute presented here is that Formosa's

DEFENDANTS' MOTION REQUESTING JUDICIAL RESOLUTION OF A DISPUTE ARISING UNDER THE CONSENT DECREE

monetary liability for Plastics discharged prior to the entry of the Decree is resolved by the \$50 million dollar payment in equal annual installments to the Trust. Plastics remaining in the environment from the prior discharges, therefore, are not subject to additional payments to the Trust.

In addition, reporting an "event as a permit violation" to the TCEQ, as required by CD Paragraph 38, contemplates an actual discharge of effluent from an outfall, not simply finding Plastics in the environment. The Decree requires Formosa to "report each event [determined pursuant to paragraphs 36] as a permit violation" to the TCEQ [CD ¶¶ 38., Dkt. No. 197 at p. 13.] but does not seek to rewrite Texas regulations as to what constitutes a violation of Formosa's TPDES permit. Formosa's interpretation of the Decree is consistent with an event that constitutes a violation of the TCEQ Permit under Texas regulations. The remediation provisions of the Decree are the agreed upon means to conscientiously address previously discharged Plastics, not the monitoring provisions.

As mentioned above, the Parties have chosen and, with the Plaintiffs' consent to the terms of the contract, Formosa has contracted with the Remediation Consultant. The Remediation Consultant has begun its work and, as required by CD Paragraph 42., will "develop and propose a plan to remove Plastics from the Cox Creek and Lavaca Bay ecosystems...," "with the goal being a removal of *most* Plastics from the environment while protecting the Cox Creek and Lavaca Bay ecosystems." CD ¶ 41.a., Dkt. No. 197 at p. 14. (emphasis added) As agreed to by the Parties and memorialized in the Decree, the Remediation Consultant is responsible for determining whether "specific removal methods will cause significant environmental damage that cannot be remediated" and, if so determined, "the removal methods should not be used." CD ¶ 41.d., Dkt. No. 197 at p. 15. In addition to deferring to the Remediation Consultant's remediation technique,

DEFENDANTS' MOTION REQUESTING JUDICIAL RESOLUTION OF A DISPUTE ARISING UNDER THE CONSENT DECREE

Formosa agreed to "cease any efforts to authorize removal of submerged vegetation from Cox Creek or its shoreline at Texas Parks and Wildlife Department ... within ten (10) Days of the effective date of [the Decree]" CD ¶ 41.c., Dkt. No. 197 at p. 14. This provision serves to restrict Formosa's efforts to remove vegetation in Cox Creek that harbors previously discharged Plastics in the areas where to the Monitor is directed to inspect.

The above references and discussion frame the dispute presented to the Court by this Motion. As advised by 5th Circuit in *Frew*, Formosa urges this Court to be "particularly wary of isolating from its surroundings or considering apart from other provisions a single phrase, sentence, or section of [the Decree]." *Frew* at 328.

However, even if the Court only considers the specific provisions of the Decree describing the function of the Monitor with respect to documenting discharges of Plastics, the Decree is clear. With respect to Cox Creek, as part of the Monitor's examination of "the outfalls, containment Booms, water and adjacent shores fifty (50) feet downstream and upstream of containment Booms" for Cox Creek Outfalls 002, 003, 004, 005, 006, 007, 008, 009, 012 and 014, the Monitor must determine there has been a discharge of water from the outfall before there can be a discharge of Plastics subject to being reported to the TCEQ as a permit violation and requiring a mitigation payment to the Trust. CD Paragraph 36 states;

"If either Formosa or the Monitor documents any Plastics resulting from sampling at the WSM for Outfall 001 or upstream of containment Booms, including on the upstream shores or in the water, for outfalls discharging into Cox Creek, and including discharges of Plastics found by the Monitor in accordance with paragraph 37, Formosa, subject to any claim by Formosa of a Force Majeure Event or Force Majeure Events, is in violation of its discharge permit and Formosa will, within thirty (30) Days of learning of the violation, pay into the Mitigation Trust the amount below..." CD ¶ 36., Dkt. No. 197 at p. 12-13.

Removing the portions of the paragraph that are not relevant to the current dispute, the provision reads: "If either Formosa or the Monitor documents any Plastics ... upstream of containment

DEFENDANTS' MOTION REQUESTING JUDICIAL RESOLUTION OF A DISPUTE ARISING UNDER THE CONSENT DECREE

Booms, including on the upstream shores or in the water, for *outfalls discharging into Cox Creek*, and *including discharges of Plastics found by the Monitor in accordance with paragraph 37*, Formosa ... is in *violation of its discharge permit* and Formosa will ... pay into the Mitigation Trust ..." (emphasis added)

The first italicized phrase, "for outfalls discharging into Cox Creek," is not a passive description of the subject outfalls; it is a description of the action leading to a discharge of Plastics. In other words, Formosa or the Monitor must document that Plastics were discharged during an event discharging water through the outfall to Cox Creek. As instructed by the 5th Circuit in Frew, "Courts should examine and consider the entire writing in an effort to harmonize and give effect to all the provisions of the contract so that none will be rendered meaningless." Frew at 328. Reading the phrase "for outfalls discharging into Cox Creek" as mere passive description of the outfalls and not as an activity necessarily associated with a discharge of Plastics subject to TCEQ reporting and payment to the Trust does not harmonize the provisions of the Decree as a full and final settlement for discharges of Plastics up through the date of entry of the CD; as to the obligation to report the Monitor's documentation and determinations of discharges to TCEQ as permit violations; or as to the complementary roles of the Monitor and the Remediation Consultant set forth in the CD. As to the last point, in its simplest form, the Monitor's role is to be on guard against Plastics being added to those already in the environment and the Remediation Consultant's role is to remove Plastics from the environment.

Harmonizing the provisions of the CD by properly interpreting the phrase "outfalls discharging into Cox Creek" as an active description of an outfall event that must occur to result in the discharge of Plastics concerning the Monitor appreciates that mitigation payments for prior discharges are already determined; recognizes Formosa agreed to restrict its efforts to remove

DEFENDANTS' MOTION REQUESTING JUDICIAL RESOLUTION OF A DISPUTE ARISING UNDER THE CONSENT DECREE PAGE 7

vegetation harboring Plastics that the Monitor might observe in the areas upstream of the Booms; and supports the Remediation Consultant's objective of removing most Plastics from the environment while protecting the Cox Creek and Lavaca Bay ecosystems.

Further, reading the phrase "for outfalls discharging into Cox Creek" as a passive description is at odds with the passive state description of the Cox Creek outfalls elsewhere in the Decree. Specifically, in CD Paragraphs 49.a. and 49.b., these outfalls are referred to by their TCEQ permit identifiers, Outfalls 002, 003, 004, 005, 006, 007, 008, 009, 012 and 014. Dkt. No. 197 at p. 16.

Thus, the phrase "for outfalls discharging into Cox Creek" is correctly interpreted as referring to the occurrence of an effluent discharge associated with the Monitor's documentation of Plastics pursuant to CD Paragraph 36. The phrase should not be rendered meaningless as a passive description for Outfalls 002, 003, 004, 005, 006, 007, 008, 009, 012 and 014.

The second italicized phrase, "including discharges of Plastics found by the Monitor in accordance with paragraph 37," provides additional support for Formosa's position. Consent Decree Paragraph 37 refers to Plaintiffs' and concerned citizens' documentation and the Monitor's determination that "the submitted documentation demonstrates *new* discharges of Plastics not already identified..." CD ¶ 37., Dkt. No. 197 at p. 13. (emphasis added) There is simply no ambiguity in CD Paragraph 37 and, as stated, the Monitor must determine that the documentation reviewed demonstrates a new discharge, not a past discharge, to subject the event to TCEQ reporting and additional payment to the Trust. There cannot be a determination there has been a new discharge of Plastics unless the event results from Formosa discharging water through Outfall 002, 003, 004, 005, 006, 007, 008, 009, 012 or 014 to Cox Creek

The third italicized phrase "violation of its discharge permit" also supports Formosa's

interpretation of the Monitor's charge. The permitted outfalls are the point of discharge and, if no water is released from an outfall because the outfall has been diverted to an onsite impoundment, for example, there is no discharge to be considered a violation of the TCEQ permit. Reasoning otherwise will have Formosa reporting events as violations to the TCEQ that are not violations of its permit, thereby exposing Formosa to TCEQ enforcement and potential penalties.

Logically, if Plastics are already outside the permitted outfalls (the permitted outfalls are at the Formosa fence line) from discharges that predate the date the Decree was entered, the Plastics are not *new* discharges and, per the release in the Decree, the violations are resolved. CD ¶ 70., Dkt. No. 197 at p. 25. Requiring Formosa to report past discharges of Plastics as permit violations is not only illogical in this context, it confuses the issues and confounds the regulatory enforcement process. The Decree should not be interpreted to require such an incongruous result as the reporting of an event as a violation of the TCEQ permit that is not a violation of the permit.

Subject to the Plaintiffs' more complete recitation of their position in their motion filed on the same date as this Motion, ¹ Formosa understands the Plaintiffs' position to be that any Plastics documented by the Monitor, per CD Paragraph 36 [Dkt. No. 197 at pp. 12-13.], between Formosa's fence line and Booms for Outfall 002, 003, 004, 005, 006, 007, 008, 009, 012 or 014, regardless of how or when the Plastics got there, trigger TCEQ reporting and additional payment to the Trust. Again, subject to the Plaintiffs' description of their position, Formosa understands the Plaintiffs maintain this Court found continuing discharges whether the stormwater outfall gates were open or not, i.e., regardless of whether there was water discharged from an outfall on any particular day. However, nowhere in this Court's Memorandum and Order [Dkt. No. 155] is such a finding stated and, even if it was, the CD resolves the issues raised in the litigation and this dispute as to the

1

¹ The Plaintiffs and Formosa have agreed to coordinate filing their motions and responses on the same date to expedite consideration by the Court and resolution of the dispute presented.

meaning of the Decree must be resolved from within the four corners of the Decree itself. As the United States Supreme Court has held:

Consent decrees are entered into by parties to a case after careful negotiation has produced agreement on their precise terms. The parties waive their right to litigate the issues involved in the case and thus save themselves the time, expense, and inevitable risk of litigation. Naturally, the agreement reached normally embodies a compromise; in exchange for the saving of cost and elimination of risk, the parties each give up something they might have won had they proceeded with the litigation. Thus the decree itself cannot be said to have a purpose; rather the parties have purposes, generally opposed to each other, and the resultant decree embodies as much of those opposing purposes as the respective parties have the bargaining power and skill to achieve. For these reasons, the scope of a consent decree must be discerned within its four corners, and not by reference to what might satisfy the purposes of one of the parties to it. Because the defendant has, by the decree, waived his right to litigate the issues raised, a right guaranteed to him by the Due Process Clause, the conditions upon which he has given that waiver must be respected, and the instrument must be construed as it is written, and not as it might have been written had the plaintiff established his factual claims and legal theories in litigation. United States v. Armour & Co., 402 U. S. 673, 681-682 (1971)

Through entry of the Decree, this Court has accepted the agreement of the Parties as the full and final settlement of the Plaintiffs' claims and this Court's findings as directly or indirectly expressed in its Memorandum and Order. Separate from the evidence adduced in the trial before this Court, the resolution of the dispute raised in this Motion, in the words of Justice White, "must be discerned within [the Decree's] four corners, and not by reference to what might satisfy the purposes of one of the parties to it." *Id.* at 682.

VI. CONCLUSION

For all of the above reasons, Formosa respectfully requests this Court resolve the dispute presented herein and enter the attached proposed order instructing the Parties that the proper construction of the Consent Decree is that for any discharge of Plastics from Outfalls 002, 003, 004, 005, 006, 007, 008, 009, 012 or 014 documented by the Monitor pursuant CD Paragraph 36 or determined to be a new discharge by the Monitor from documentation submitted pursuant to CD Paragraph 37, the Monitor must document and determine the Plastics identified resulted from

a discharge of water through the subject outfall occurring after the effective date of the Decree and be qualified to do so.

Date: May 18, 2020. Respectfully submitted,

By: /s/ John A. Riley
John A. Riley
Texas State Bar No. 16927900
HOLLAND & KNIGHT LLP
111 Congress Ave., Ste. 540
Austin, Texas 78701
(512) 954-6525 Telephone
(512) 472-7473 Fax
Email: john.riley@hklaw.com

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANTS, FORMOSA PLASTICS CORP., TEXAS and FORMOSA PLASTICS CORP., U.S.A.

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

The undersigned certifies that on May 18, 2020 all counsel of record who are deemed to have consented to electronic service are being served with a copy of this document via the Court's CM/ECF system pursuant to Local Rule CV-5(a)(3)(A).

/s/ John A. Riley John A. Riley TAB 3

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS VICTORIA DIVISION

SAN ANTONIO BAY ESTUARINE WATERKEEPER and S. DIANE WILSON	§ §	
Plaintiffs,	§ § 8	
v.	\$ §	Civil Action No. 6:17-cv-00047
FORMOSA PLASTICS CORP., TEXAS, and	§	
FORMOSA PLASTICS CORP., U.S.A.	§	
	§	
Defendants.	§	

DEFENDANTS' RESPONSE TO PLAINTIFFS' MOTION TO ENFORCE MONITORING PROVISION OF CONSENT DECREE AND TO APPOINT MONITOR

By: /s/ John A. Riley
John A. Riley
Texas State Bar No. 16927900
HOLLAND & KNIGHT LLP
111 Congress Ave., Ste. 540
Austin, Texas 78701
(512) 954-6525 Telephone
(512) 472-7473 Fax
Email: john.riley@hklaw.com

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANTS, FORMOSA PLASTICS CORP., TEXAS and FORMOSA PLASTICS CORP., U.S.A. the puzzling pieces of the Plaintiffs' argument simply do not fit. Plaintiffs' Motion declares, without basis, that "Formosa cannot internally design its own diversion system outside the transparency and terms of the Consent Decree and then simply assert that this be accepted as conclusive evidence that its outfalls are no longer capable of discharging." Plaintiffs' Motion p. 12., Dkt. No. 201 at 10. But, Formosa is not asserting anything of the kind, much less that the efforts Formosa has made to prevent the discharge of Plastics need to be accepted by the Monitor, or anyone else for that matter, as conclusive evidence. The misdirection in the Plaintiffs' Motion appears to be based on their mistaken understanding of Formosa's position.

Formosa's position is much simpler and not in any manner offered as conclusive evidence or with negative intentions. Formosa simply maintains that the phrase "outfalls discharging to Cox Creek" is an active description of a water effluent discharge from an outfall. Before the Monitor can assert it has documented or determined a discharge of Plastics from the facility in violation of the CD and the TCEQ TPDES permit, effluent violating the TPDES permit must have been discharged.

The transparent engineering process detailed at some length in the Plaintiffs' Motion is not disrupted by Formosa's interpretation and will proceed unimpeded toward achieving the design objective for the stormwater system contemplated in the Decree. The Monitor's documentations and determinations are independent of the engineering objective of "produc[ing] plans to retrofit the facility with the Best Available Technology and design to prevent the discharge of Plastics..." CD ¶ 19, Dkt. No. 197 p. 7. Designing and implementing a stormwater collection system with "capacity improvements to the stormwater drainage system such that flooding does not occur from rainfall that is, at least, a 5-year 24-hour rainfall event" is required and any actions Formosa has

namely, the release of effluent, and cannot be rendered meaningless as advocated by the Plaintiffs.

DEFENDANTS' RESPONSE TO PLAINTIFFS' MOTION TO ENFORCE MONITORING PROVISION OF CONSENT DECREE AND TO APPOINT MONITOR

role of the Monitor asserting:

In reviewing paragraph 36, it is important to note what findings are not required to be made before a violation is determined. The Monitor is not tasked with determining the source or the age of the Plastics. The Monitor is not instructed to conclude when or how the Plastics were discharged, or whether a rain event occurred recently. The Monitor is not even required to describe the Plastics are pellets or powder. The Monitor is not tasked with making a technical determination of whether the outfalls are discharging or capable of discharging or with reviewing Formosa's outfall log records.

Despite Plaintiffs' exaggeration, Formosa's interpretation does not require or even imply the Monitor must determine the source or the age of the Plastics; whether a rain event occurred recently; whether the Plastics are pellets or powder; or whether the outfalls are *capable* of discharging. Formosa's interpretation only requires the Monitor determine there has been a discharge of effluent from the point source, i.e. the numbered Outfalls, and Plastics are documented after the discharge before Formosa is liable for any additional payments to the Mitigation Trust and required to report a violation of its TPDES permit to the TCEQ. As stated above, the TPDES permit sets effluent limitations, which are "[a]ny restriction imposed on quantities, discharge rates, and concentrations of pollutants which are discharged from [outfalls] into waters in the state." 30 Tex. ADMIN. Code § 305.2(13). The TPDES permit is not violated unless there is an exceedance of an effluent limitation from an outfall into waters in the state.

As suggested by the Plaintiffs' Motion, there are outfall log records to aid the Monitor (Plaintiffs' Motion p. 14., Dkt. No. 201, p. 14.) and, no doubt, there are a myriad of techniques, including but not limited to video surveillance, that can provide the basis for the Monitor's determination there has been a discharge of effluent from the subject outfalls, similar to but much simpler than the Monitor's determination of a discharge of Plastics from Outfall 001.

Reasonable interpretation of the Decree also does not support a different basis for determining there has been a discharge of Plastics subject to a payment to the Trust and a report

TAB 4

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS VICTORIA DIVISION

SAN ANTONIO BAY ESTUARINE WATERKEEPER, et al.,

Plaintiff,

Civil Action No. 6:17-cv-00047

v.

FORMOSA PLASTICS CORP., TEXAS, et al.,

Defendants.

<u>DEFENDANTS' RESPONSE TO PLAINTIFFS' RULE 59(e) MOTION TO AMEND COURT'S AUGUST 17, 2020 ORDER</u>

TO THE HONORABLE KENNETH M. HOYT, UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE:

Formosa Plastics Corp., Texas and Formosa Plastics Corp., U.S.A. (collectively, "Formosa" or "Defendants") hereby file this response to Plaintiffs' Rule 59(e) Motion to Amend Court's August 17, 2020 Order ("Plaintiffs' Motion to Amend Order"). Concurrent with this response, Formosa is filing Defendants' Motion To Stay Pending Appeal ("Motion to Stay") and Formosa hereby incorporates its Motion to Stay into this response as if fully set forth herein.

As set forth in the Plaintiffs' Motion to Amend Order, the Parties agree the Order erroneously interprets the Consent Decree ("Decree") and must be amended to comport with the terms of the Decree. *See, generally*, Pls.' Rule 59(e) Mot. to Amend Order, Dkt. No. 229, especially fn.2 p. 1. Formosa is appealing the Court's order entered on August 17, 2020 (Dkt. No. 219, "Order") and, by their Motion to Amend, the Plaintiffs have conceded the Order incorrectly interprets aspects of the Decree. *Id*.

The Plaintiffs' Motion to Amend Order confirms the Parties' agreement as to the physical area the Monitor is required to inspect, namely upstream (the Plaintiffs' Motion to Amend Order and Order refer to this as "inside") of the Booms placed at the Enumerated Outfalls but, as explained in footnote 2 of the Plaintiffs' Motion to Amend, Formosa maintains the Plaintiffs' motion leaves uncorrected the portion of the Court's Order that improperly shifts the burden to Formosa to prove that Plastics found by the Monitor in these areas are not new discharges. Pls.' Rule 59(e) Mot. to Amend Order, Dkt. No. 229, pp. 1-2, fn. 2. Thus, Formosa agrees with the amendments to the Order the Plaintiffs' seek but believes the Plaintiffs' amendments do not go far enough to correct the Order.

Specifically, it is the Monitor's duty is to determine there has been a new discharge of Plastics from an Enumerated Outfall, not Formosa's obligation to prove the Plastics found are not new. It is the Monitor's function to determine the source and cause, and document his findings based on the discharge of effluent from an Enumerated Outfall on or after January 15, 2020. In such instances, Formosa may refute the Monitor's determination that Plastics found are a result of a new release in accordance with the rights specifically reserved in Decree paragraph 70. Where the Monitor maintains there has been a new discharge of Plastics over Formosa's objection, Formosa may use the Dispute Resolution process in the Decree to seek resolution of the issue.

III. Conclusion

For the foregoing reasons, unless this Court, in addition to the amendments to the Order urged by the Plaintiffs, corrects the Order with respect to the placing the burden on the Monitor to document and determine there has been a new discharge of Plastics *before* Formosa is required to make a payment to the Mitigation Trust or report a permit violation to the TCEO, the

TAB 5

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS VICTORIA DIVISION

SAN ANTONIO BAY ESTUARINE WATERKEEPER, et al.,

Plaintiff,

Civil Action No. 6:17-cv-00047

v.

FORMOSA PLASTICS CORP., TEXAS, et al.,

Defendants.

DEFENDANTS' MOTION TO STAY PENDING APPEAL

Defendants Formosa Plastics Corp., Texas and Formosa Plastics Corp., U.S.A. (collectively, "Formosa" or "Defendants") respectfully request a stay of this Court's August 17, 2020 Order (the "Order") (Dkt. No. 219) pending appeal of the ruling on the underlying motion to resolve the dispute arising under a consent decree entered between the parties. In its Order, the Court erroneously interpreted the consent decree. Formosa is appealing the Court's ruling, and importantly, Plaintiffs have admitted that the Order incorrectly interpreted the consent decree. Pls.' Rule 59(e) Mot. to Amend Order, Dkt. No. 229. Staying the Order pending appeal is appropriate because Formosa has presented a substantial case on the merits, which Plaintiffs concede at least in part, and the balance of equities weighs in favor of a stay.

I. Background

Effective January 15, 2020, Plaintiffs San Antonio Bay Estuarine Waterkeeper and Sylvia Diane Wilson (collectively, "Plaintiffs") and Formosa entered into a Consent Decree (the "Decree") resolving Plaintiffs' Clean Water Act lawsuit. The Decree was entered in full and final settlement of the claims for violations of the Clean Water Act as alleged in Plaintiffs'

Texas Commission on Environmental Quality ("TCEQ") identifying the water body (Cox Creek or Lavaca Bay) where Plastics were discharged." Decree ¶ 37, Dkt. No. 197 at pp. 13.

The parties sought the Court's intervention regarding interpretation of the Decree, and the Court's Order on the motions was entered on August 17, 2020. In the Order, the Court found that, based on the unambiguous language in the Decree, the term "outfalls" in the phrase "for outfalls discharging into Cox Creek" in paragraph 36 refers not only to Formosa's permitted discharge of water into Cox Creek and Lavaca Bay through outfalls but also to any outfalls merely capable of discharging water into Cox Creek or Lavaca Bay. Order ¶ I, Dkt. 219 at p. 2. In addition, the Court found that "[b]ecause the Monitor's duty is confined to documentation and reporting," paragraph 36 requires additional payments into the Mitigation Trust when the Monitor or Formosa documents any Plastics on the shores or in the water, whether inside or outside containment booms at certain outfalls. Id. These payments are triggered by the mere documentation of the existence of Plastics without any regard to whether the Plastics documented were previously-existing, historical Plastics and thus already resolved through the settlement and dealt with through the remediation sections of the Decree. The Order similarly requires Formosa to report discharge violations to TCEQ without regard to whether the Plastics found were the result of new discharges by Formosa after the effective date of the Decree:

Paragraphs 36 and 38 require Formosa to report Plastics to the TCEQ pursuant to the unambiguous mandate language in Paragraph 38 relating to Cox Creek and Lavaca Bay for [certain outfalls]; when Plastics are detected on the shores of the respective outfalls. *Id*.

Finding that the Monitor's duty is simply to document the presence of Plastics, the Court rejected Formosa's position that the Monitor must document a *new* discharge from an outfall before Plastics found at any outfall triggers payment by Formosa into the Mitigation Trust. *Id.* at ¶ III. The Court found that the Monitor need not determine a source of Plastics or justify his